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A national patriotic epic unfolded as 
Omani people exhibited splendid forms of 
solidarity, collaboration and patience. This 
will forever remain testimony to the strength 
of this nation and its ability to stand the test 
of time in facing adverse conditions and 
unfavourable circumstances. 
 
Excerpt from the speech by
His Majesty  
Sultan Haitham bin Tarik 
addressing the nation in the 
 aftermath of Shaheen Cyclone



His Majesty Sultan Haitham bin Tarik



The Beauty of Mobility

Revered for its uninterrupted landscapes, dramatic vistas, and a world-
class road, port and airport infrastructure, the Sultanate of Oman has 
been the home of a diverse and inclusive society that welcomes people 
from across the globe, since time immemorial. All along the roadways, 
the scenic coast and the interior regions of the Sultanate, Shell Oman’s 
commitment to Oman’s development is clearly visible. The strategically 
located Shell Service Stations across Oman, provide unparalleled 
support to the current and future growth initiatives of Oman. Truly 
complementing the thrill of journeys that the Sultanate offers, Shell 
Oman aims to add value to every trip our customers make. And, in 
doing so, our purpose is to power progress together by providing more 
and cleaner energy solutions while staying true to our core values and 
being focused on safety.

Empty Quarter desert 
Ar Rub’ al Khali Sand Sea
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In its meeting held on 15 February 2022, the Board of Directors 
approved the Company’s audited financial results for the year ended 31 
December 2021.

SUMMARY FINANCIALS

In OMR’000 Quarter 12 Months

Q4/21 Q4/20 % 2021 2020 %

Revenue 110,323 90,130 22% 398,429 367,090 9%

Gross profit 7,424 7,490 (1%) 30,039 27,235 10%

Add: Other income 880 1,238 (29%) 4,035 4,927 (18%)

Less: Selling, distribution 
and administrative 
expenses

(7,560) (6,957) 9% (28,030) (27,110) 3%

Less: Financing and 
taxation (516) (629) (18%) (2,433) (2,468) (1%)

Profit and 
comprehensive income 228 1,142 (80%) 3,611 2,584 40%

¢ Twelve Months Revenue was at OMR 398.429 million, 9% higher 
than the same period last year.

¢ Twelve Months Gross Profit was at OMR 30.039 million, 10% higher 
than the same period last year mainly due to the impact of inventory 
value stock movements as a result of the increase in petroleum product 
prices and due to the increase in sales margins of some products.

¢ Twelve Months Profit and Comprehensive Income was OMR 3.611 
million. This is higher than the same period in 2020 mainly due to 
the increase in Gross Profit.

Twelve Months 
Revenue was at 
OMR 398.429 
million, 9% higher 
than the same 
period last year.

“

”
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DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

Shell Oman New head office with its futuristic design, is fully capable and ready to support hybrid ways of working.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

Mobility Business has been the largest 
revenue generator in the company. 
While industry demand remains 
challenged, the business continues to 
provide customers with a world class 
experience through a nationwide 
network of strategically located Shell 
service stations. This translated into 
improved sales volumes vs the year 
2020. Despite the continuous impact 
of COVID-19 pandemic on mobility 
and commercial activities, the business 
continued delivering its products and 
services to customers with focus on care 
for customers and community. This was 
further demonstrated during Cyclone 
Shaheen which hit the northern part 
of Oman in early October. During the 
tropical cyclone, almost half of the 
company’s business network were either 
partially or fully impacted. The business 
managed to turn around all impacted 
facilities in less than two days and 
resume operation while maintaining 

highest standards of safety and quality. 

The business commemorated the 
National Day this year by opening its 
200th service station at a prime location 
on Muscat Expressway, and announced 
the beginning of construction of four 
integrated service stations on Batinah 
Expressway. The construction is 
expected to be completed in the first 
quarter of 2022.  

The company continued to develop 
its social and digital media presence 
through content focused on customer 
engagement and promotions. Non-
Fuel Retail (NFR) continues to play an 
important role in improving consumer 
experience and satisfaction. In line with 
this, one more convenience store was 
added to its portfolio in 2021.

Fleet Solutions Business remained 
resilient and a stable contributor to the 
Retail business, despite the Business-
to-Business (B2B) customers facing 
challenges due to COVID-19 related 

restrictions. The business continues to 
focus on signing new customers and 
addressing evolving customer needs 
through acceleration of its digitalisation 
journey, its commitment to delivery 
promise and operational excellence. 
Also, it continued leveraging the Cards 
Management System to provide better 
transactional controls and continuously 
improving customers’ experience 
through the Vehicle Recognition System 
(VRS). 

Commercial Fuels Business 
continued to be impacted by lower 
demand due to pandemic related 
restrictions. However, it remains 
committed to support customer’s 
business continuity through efficient 
cashflow management, operations 
excellence and providing effective 
mobility solutions. The last quarter, on 
the other hand, witnessed improvement 
in economic activity coupled with deals 
signed for new upcoming infrastructure 
projects.   
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Marine Business continues to serve 
local and international customers at 
the key ports. The company remains 
committed to the highest HSSE and 
operational excellence standards 
leveraging its global expertise to 
ensure successful delivery of bunkering 
solutions to its local and international 
marine customers. The company’s focus 
remained on strengthening its position 
in the Marine business by developing 
new business opportunities to expand 
its footprint across major ports in the 
Sultanate. 

Lubricants Business has been 
challenged by the impact of the 
pandemic and the rise in global base 
oil prices which directly affected the 
overall cost of finished lubricants 
and its profitability. However, strong 
relationships with key customers 
and partners along with effective 
business continuity plans contributed 
to maintaining this sector’s profitability 
and sales volumes at steady levels. A 
number of strategic B2B accounts in 
the energy sectors were also secured. 
The business maintained its market 
leadership position in the B2C sector 
with enhanced route-to-market strategies 
in collaboration with the key distributors 
and initiated several strategic levers that 
enabled growth and sustainability in 
order to overcome market challenges. 
This included introducing new revenue 
streams and an increased focus on 
co-branded products with strategic 
Original Engine Manufacturers such as 
Isuzu and Hyundai. Shell Lubricants has 
also retained its number one position 
in the world as the leading supplier of 
automotive and industrial lubricants for 
the 15th consecutive year. In addition 
to this, the business also continues to 
leverage its ISO 9001-certified Shell 
lubricant blending plant in Mina Al 
Fahal, with promoting In-Country Value 

(ICV) being a strong customer value 
proposition. 

Aviation Business continued to 
witness limited air travel due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. While restrictions 
on air travel eased in October, the 
global aviation and tourism sector 
remained weak, with many overseas 
destinations being closed or restricted. 
As a result, volumes from both 
domestic and foreign travels remained 
challenged and similar to the demand 
witnessed in the year 2020 post the 
onset of the pandemic. During this 
time, the company focused on securing 
new contracts in the cargo sector and 
retaining key contracts with international 

airlines at Muscat International Airport. 
In addition, operations in Duqm Airport 
was launched above and beyond the 
company’s operating role in Muscat, 
Salalah and Marmul Fuel Farms 
leveraging the Company’s long history 
experience and operational excellence 
in Oman. 

PROPOSED DIVIDEND

The Board is proposing that the dividend 
for 2021 be paid at 36 baisa per share 
for distribution in March 2022. Whilst 
coming to this decision, the Board has 
considered the net income of the year, 
current and expected market conditions, 
the liquidity in the money market, 
existing and anticipated borrowings 
and the capital investment programme 

for the year 2022, which has been 
put in place to secure the longer term 
profitability and competitive position of 
the Company.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The COVID19 pandemic continued 
to impact overall industry demand 
in 2021 due to decreased business 
activity following mobility restrictions 
being enforced through various stages 
for the year. The speed of industry 
demand recovery is expected to remain 
uncertain into 2022 following the 
resurgence of cases, both domestically 
and internationally. While uncertainty 
remains, 2022 is expected to 
demonstrate a more steady business 
environment owing to stronger macro 
economics factors including oil price 
and fiscal performance. 

The company has also retained a robust 
balance sheet throughout the year 2021 
to be in a position to continue investment 
in new business opportunities in 2022, 
while maintaining financial strength to 
remain resilient should external demand 
challenges rearise. 

HEALTH, SAFETY, SECURITY 
AND ENVIRONMENT (HSSE)

In 2021, the company maintained 
an excellent HSSE performance and 
continued its Goal Zero journey resulting 
again with a year of no harm and zero 
recordable Lost Time Injuries (LTI).

Moreover, the company continued 
its focus on caring for people and 
the environment, and its commitment 
to building people competencies 
and providing effective safeguards, 
through several initiatives, including 
an awareness campaign focusing on 
ergonomic & physical health, permit to 
work process, defensive driving, food 
safety, first aid, firefighting, and risk 
assessment training. A safety day was 

The Board is 
proposing that the 
dividend for 2021 be 
paid at 36 baisa per 
share for distribution 
in March 2022.

“

”
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held under the theme “New Life Saving 
Rules” and included the inauguration of 
service champion big rules for the front 
line to enhance the safety of frontline 
and customers.

Shell Oman Marketing Company 
SAOG continues to respond to the 
evolving risks related to COVID-19, 
with safety as a key priority, through a 
vaccination program for employees and 
their spouses and continues to enable 
employees to work from home.

The company has also completed the 
launch of its second solar-powered 
service station and the trial operation of 
the first electric charging unit this year. 
This comes as part of a sustainable 
environment journey to achieve its net-
emission ambition.

RISK AND CONCERNS

The speed of economic recovery from 
the COVID-19 pandemic remains a 
watch point for the company as does 
the overall availability of liquidity in the 
cash market. As a result, the company 
remains balanced in ensuring a 
resilient balance sheet, while cautiously 
continuing with selective investments. 
Additional focus areas for the company 
include information risk management 
and the opportunities and risks 
associated with new businesses arising 
through the energy transition.

The company’s forward investment 
and business plan assumes stability in 
the fixed margin rates in the dominant 
Mobility segment, and this is dependent 
on the authorities. The company tests 
investments against various scenarios, 
including changing price structures, 
forecasted demand and the evolving 
economic environment to ensure we 
continue to take robust investment 
decisions concerning the shareholders’ 
available funds.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board of Directors recognises that 

good corporate governance results 

from strong internal controls. The Board 

affirms its overall responsibility for 

reviewing the adequacy and the integrity 

of the Company’s internal control and 

management information systems, 

including systems for compliance with 

applicable laws. There was no material 

loss reported during 2021 as a result 

of weaknesses in internal controls. The 

management of the Company continues 

to take measures to strengthen the 

overall internal control environment.

BOARD CHANGES

In the latest Directors elections held at 

the March 2021 AGM, the shareholders 

elected the new Board of Directors with 

two new Directors Ali Kharusi and 

Adriaan Ritskes replacing Directors 

Juma Al Khamisi and Faisal Waheed, 

respectively. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

Shell Oman Marketing Company 

SAOG remains committed to meet the 

Sultanate’s growing energy demands in 

an economically, environmentally, and 

socially responsible way while creating 

sustainable value for the community. 

While the focus been on ICV, enterprise 

development, road safety and 

environment, the company is planning to 

reinforce its role in the energy transition 

journey in the Sultanate and to align its 

long-term strategy and direction with the 

Group’s Powering Progress strategy as 

well as Oman Vision 2040. 

The company strives to reinforce its 

collaboration with all stakeholders 

deliver its role as a responsible corporate 

citizen in Oman.

IN APPRECIATION

We, in Shell Oman Marketing Company, 
would like to reaffirm our commitment as 
part of this nation to continue to stand 
shoulder to shoulder with our partners 
and stakeholders in the Sultanate and 
work to power its progress together and 
continue building on its achievements. 
We will continue to serve Oman and 
the people under the leadership of His 
Majesty Sultan Haitham Bin Tarik and to 
support his vision for the Sultanate. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I 
would like to express my sincere thanks 
to our shareholders, the management, 
our employees, customers, contractors 
and all our other stakeholders for their 
loyalty, perseverance, dedication, and 
effort in the face of an ever growing and 
challenging business environment. The 
Board of Directors remains committed to 
pursuing all opportunities with a view to 
maintaining the company’s growth while 
enhancing shareholders’ value. We are 
grateful for your constant support as we 
work to power its progress together.  

Walid Hadi
Chairman,
Shell Oman Marketing Company SAOG

Muscat, February 15, 2022
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Delightful Drive 
Mobility is a central growth strategy for Shell 
Oman. We continue to be there for our customers 
as they undertake unforgettable journeys, taking in 
the fabulous views of desert terrains, vast oceans, 
traversing an endless network of breathtaking 
mountain roads. With 200 strategically located 
Shell service stations, offering Shell quality fuels 
and lubricants along with Shell Select convenient 
retailing, Shell Oman continues to be their trusted 
road-partner of choice.

Amerat heights
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AUDITOR’S REPORT ON 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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In accordance with the Capital Market 
Authority (“CMA”) guidelines, we 
are pleased to present the Corporate 
Governance Report of Shell Oman 
Marketing Company SAOG (“the 
company”) for the year ended 31 
December 2021. The company’s 
external auditors, Moore Stephens LLC 
has issued a separate Factual Findings 
Report on the company’s Corporate 
Governance Report for the year ended 
31 December 2021. 

Company’s Philosophy
Corporate Governance at Shell 
Oman Marketing Company 
SAOG envisages commitment of the 
company towards the attainment of high 
levels of transparency, accountability 
and business propriety with the ultimate 
objective of increasing long term 
shareholder value, keeping in view 
the needs and interests of all other 
stakeholders. 

Shell Oman Marketing Company SAOG 
is committed to adopting the best global 
practices of Corporate Governance and 
fully supports the code of Corporate 
Governance issued by the CMA. This 

Report has been prepared pursuant 
to the CMA’s circular no. E/4/2015, 
dated 22 July 2015 and its application 
of the Corporate Governance practices 
in accordance with amendments to 
CMA’s Code of Corporate Governance 
issued under circular no. E/10/2016 
dated 1 December 2016 (collectively 
the “Code”), The Commercial 
Companies Law (CCL)  Royal Decree 
No18/2019  issued on 13 February 
2019  and CMA’s Decision 27/2021 
issued on 25 February 2021 regarding 
the Regulations for Public Joint Stock 
Companies.

Board of Directors
The Board comprises entirely of Non-
Executive Directors. The present 
strength of the Board is eleven Directors 
comprising of six Non-Independent 
Directors and five Independent 
Directors. The Chairman and Directors 
are accomplished professionals and 
experts in their respective corporate 
fields. The existing composition ensures 
that the Board is adequately balanced 
in terms of expertise and backgrounds 
to enable proper direction and steer on 
the company’s activities. 

Functions of the Board
The company in general complies with 
the functions of the Board as per the 
Code. With respect to the selection of 
the key executives, a transparent and 
a professional selection process that 
is applied within the Shell Group is 
used with steer and involvement of the 
Board’s Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee as appropriate and agreed 
with the Board.

With respect to the selection of the 
key executives, a selection process 
applied within the Shell Group is 
used with steer and involvement of the 
Board’s Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee as appropriate and agreed 
with the Board. The same applies for 
evaluation of staff where a comprehensive 
performance and appraisal system of the 
Shell Group is implemented.

External Assessment of the 
Board of Directors 
In the AGM of March 2021, the 
shareholders appointed Abu Timam 
Grant Thornton, an external consultant, 
to conduct an assessment of the Board 
of Directors effectiveness. 

Dr. Mohammed Al Balushi, CEO, Shell Oman signing agreement with Dr. Ahmed Mohammed Al Abri, CEO, Asyad ports for the Supply of Bunker.
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The Performance Evaluation of the 
Board of Directors was conducted in line 
with the evaluation criteria approved by 
Shareholders in the Annual General 
Meeting and the Code of Corporate 
Governance requirements. The specific 
procedures comprised of two aspects:

n Review of supporting documentation 
available such as Minutes of 
Meeting, Terms of Reference for 
the Sub Committees, Policies and 
Procedures etc.

n Compilation of the evaluation 
feedback received from members 
and preparation of report based on 
the responses and ratings received 
from the members

The Performance was evaluated against 
the following criteria: 

n Compliance with Code of Corporate 
Governance, Commercial Company 
Law & Articles of Association

n Board Structure

n Board’s Role in Governance 

n Dynamics & Functioning 

n Financial Reporting Process, Internal 
Controls, Risk Management 

The overall conclusion on the appraisal 
of the performance of the Board 
of Directors for the year ended 31 
December 2021 was concluded as 
Satisfactory with a performance of 
“Exceeds Expectation” in the scale of 
rating.

Process of Nomination of Directors

The last election was carried out in the ordinary general meeting in March 2021, where eleven directors have been elected 
for a period of three years. In case of vacancies, such vacant seats will be filled in accordance with the Company’s Articles 
of Association, Commercial Companies Law and CMA Regulations. The company has an induction programme for Directors, 
which covers the wider business environment, company’s specific businesses as well as specific corporate governance elements 
(e.g. Code of Conduct and confidentiality). 

Non-Independent Directors Independent Directors

Walid Hadi Shabib Al Darmaki

Zain Hak Sheikh Faisal Al Hashar

Mooi-Fung Farm Ishaq Al Mawali

Adriaan Ritskes (From 4th March 2021) Ali Al Kharusi (From 4th March 2021)

Faisal Waheed (Up to 4th March 2021) Juma Al Khamisi (Up to 4th March 2021)

Amr Adel Ghalib Al Busaidi

Richard Jory

During the year 2021, the company held seven Board meetings. The dates are 26 January, 8 February, 4 March, 28 April, 27 
July, 27 October and 9 December. The intervals between the meetings are in line with the CMA required interval of a maximum 
of 120 days between each meeting. 

Director’s attendance record and directorships held during the financial year 2021

Name of Director Position
Board 

meetings 
attended

Whether 
attended 
last AGM

Directorship in other Companies

Walid Hadi Chairman, 
Board of Directors 6 Yes None 

Shabib Al Darmaki Independent Director 7 Yes

• Omani Qatari Telecommunications Company 
SAOG

• Oman National Investment Development Co 
SAOC (Tanmia) - Chairman

Sheikh Faisal Al Hashar Independent Director 7 Yes None

Ghalib Al Busaidi Independent Director 7 Yes None
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Name of Director Position
Board 

meetings 
attended

Whether 
attended 
last AGM

Directorship in other Companies

Zain Hak Non-Independent Director 6 Yes None

Adriaan Ritskes Non-Independent Director 
(From 4th March 2021) 5 N/A None

Mooi-Fung Farm Non-Independent Director 6 Yes None

Faisal Waheed Non-Independent Director 
(Up to 4th March 2021) 2 Yes None

Amr Adel Non-Independent Director 7 Yes None

Juma Al Khamisi Independent Director 
(Up to 4th March 2021) 2 Yes • Al Bandar Development SAOC 

Ali Al Kharusi Independent Director 
(From 4th March 2021) 5 N/A • Emdad Logistics SAOC 

Ishaq Al Mawali Independent Director 7 Yes

• Bank Nizwa - Director
• National Gas Company SAOG - Director
• Oman National Investment Development Co 

SAOC (Tanmia)

Richard Jory Non-Independent Director 6 Yes None

The Board of Directors manages and 
supervises the business and affairs of 
the company in a stewardship role. The 
day-to-day management is delegated 
to the executive management of the 
company. Any responsibilities that have 
not been delegated to the management 
or to a committee of the Board remain 
with the Board.

In order to facilitate proper governance, 
the following information amongst 
others is provided to the Board:

n Review of operating plans of 
business, capital budgets and 
updates;

n Quarterly/annual results of the 
company and its business segments;

n Quarterly performance on Health 
Safety Security and Environment 
(HSSE);

n Reports of fatal, serious accidents or 
dangerous occurrences;

n Directors’ fees and remuneration;

n Minutes of the subcommittees of the 

Board;

n Material default in financial 
obligations to or by the Company;

n Issues involving possible public or 
product liability claims of substantial 
nature;

n Any significant industry related 
problems;

n Senior management changes;

n Policies / procedures as deemed 
important to place before the Board; 

n Material notices of penalties and 
causes, 

n Non-compliance with any regulatory 
requirements; and

n Related party transactions.
As required by the Code, the Board 
of Directors have adopted Internal 
Regulations. These include adoption 
of principles, policies, procedures 
and practices for doing business and 
conducting affairs that are commonly 
used in the Shell Group. As part of this, 
the Shell Group Statement of General 
Business Principles, HSSE and Code 

of Conduct Policies are in place. The 
Board in general is informed of any 
changes as advised by the Shell Group. 

The Board has adopted a specific 
Related Party Transaction procedure to 
ensure compliance with the CCL and 
Code of Corporate Governance and 
controls are applied in devising the 
process to manage such transactions. 

Board Profiles 
Walid Hadi

Walid Hadi is Shell’s Country Chairman 
in Oman and is a Dutch citizen of 
Venezuelan and Lebanese origins. He 
is an American University of Beirut 
graduate and a CFA charter holder. 
Walid started his career in Andersen’s Oil 
and Gas practice in Qatar then moved 
to Schlumberger, before joining Shell in 
2005. He started his Shell career in the 
regional planning and reporting unit in 
Dubai, responsible for Shell’s portfolio in 
the Middle East, North Africa, Russia and 
Eastern Europe. He was then posted to 
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the Mergers and Acquisition team, based 
in the Hague, working on a variety of 
acquisitions, divestment and corporate 
transactions spanning Africa, Middle 
East, Far East, Australia, and Eastern 
Europe. In 2012, he joined Shell’s Middle 
East government relations team where he 
worked to establish new country entry 
positions and business development 
opportunities across the region. He 
was appointed as GM Commercial 
for Shell in Kazakhstan in 2015 where 
he also served as Shell’s shareholder 
representative for the Caspian Pipeline 
Company and was a member of its 
Board of Directors. In 2017, Walid was 
appointed as Vice President Finance for 
the Upstream Joint Venture business, and 
he was subsequently appointed as Shell’s 
country chairman in Oman in 2019. 

Shabib Al Darmaki

Shabib, is an Omani national and is 
currently the Director General in the 
Civil Services Employees’ Pension Fund 
in Muscat. He has over 30 years of 
experience in the Pension Fund and 
comes in with a wide experience in 
the areas of finance, audit and pension 
fund management. He has a Master 
of Science degree in Accounting from 
Oklahoma University, USA and a 
BSc degree in Business from Hilwan 
University, Egypt. Shbaib is a Director 
in Oman National investment and 
Development Company (TANMIA) 
and Omani Qatari Telecommunication 
Company SAOG. He has also held 
various directorship positions in other 
entities throughout his career including 
Oman Housing Bank, Al-Batina Hotels 
and Al Izz Islamic Bank SAOG. 

Sheikh Faisal Al-Hashar

Sheikh Faisal holds a B.Sc. degree in 
Marketing from North West Missouri 
State University, U.S.A and has solid 
experience in both Public and Private 
Sectors. In the Public Sector, he held 
the position of a Director General 
until September 1997. As for the 
Private Sector, his last position was 
the Managing Director of Shell Oman 

Marketing Company SAOG until June 
2010. He also held the position of a 
Director on the Board in 3 consecutive 
terms at Shell Oman from 2002 and is 
currently managing his own businesses/
JVs in Waste Management and Quarries. 
His current capacities are as follows: 
Honorary Consul of Austria in Oman, 
JV partner Urbaser LLC, in partnership 
with Urbaser (Spain), currently holding 
a concession for the waste collection 
in South Batinah and Director of Shell 
Oman Marketing Company SAOG.

Ghalib Al-Busaidi

Ghalib Al Busaidy was previously 
the GM & Group Head of Wholesale 
Banking at Alizz Islamic Bank. Before 
this he was the Deputy CEO at the 
Oman Investment Authority (formerly the 
State General Reserve Fund) for over 21 
years responsible for the key investment 
functions of public and private equity 
markets. He started his career with 
PwC in London as a Senior Manager. 
Ghalib has held several advisory and 
board memberships in addition to 
his directorship in SOM, and was 
previously a member of the Investment 
Committee at Oman National Investments 
& Development Co. (ONIDCO), a 
member of the Board of Directors of 
Uzbek Oman Investment Fund and a 
board member of the Oman India Joint 
Investment Fund. Al Busaidi is a member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in England and Wales (FCA) since 1991, 
and a member of the UK Association of 
Corporate Treasurers (AMCT). He holds 
a BA Honours degree in Accounting 
and Finance from Middlesex 
University Business School and 
successfully completed the Investment 
Management Program from London 
Business School, High Performance 
Boards (IMD, Switzerland) and Interest 
Rate Risk Management Program (New 
York Institute of Finance).

Amr Adel

Amr’s career in the Oil and Gas 
industry spans over 30 years, with an 
experience profile that covers Sales, 

Marketing, Operations, Strategy and 
Business Development cutting across 
different classes of Business in Marine, 
Retail, Commercial, Global Commercial 
Fuels & Lubricants in the Middle East, 
Pakistan, Central & South Asia and 
recently South Africa. Amr is currently 
the Senior Vice President Mobility East 
effective 1st January 2019 and is based 
in Singapore, prior to this Amr was the 
LSDR Downstream for UAE and CEO for 
Shell Vivo Lubricants. Amr has extensive 
experience growing business ventures 
and managing challenging turnarounds 
under multiple business structures: Joint 
Ventures, Public limited companies, 
Distributors and Direct businesses across 
vast and complex geographies which 
covered at different points of his career 
the Middle East, Central Asia, North 
and East Africa, India, Pakistan /Sub 
Indian continent, Far East all the way 
down to Taiwan and New Zealand. 

Zain Hak

Zain Hak is a global commercial leader 
with over 26 years’ experience running 
businesses, structuring new ventures, 
and turning around operations. He has 
lived and worked in Singapore, USA, 
Pakistan, Vietnam, UK & Switzerland, 
with managerial oversight for regional 
and global businesses. Across the 
span of his career, Zain has also held 
senior advocacy positions in external 
organizations including American 
Petroleum Institute (Chairperson 
Marketing Committee, VP for the US 
Association for Energy Economics, 
and Development Advisor for Vietnam 
local government. Zain currently serves 
as Shell’s Global Vice President for 
Agriculture & Forestry and is also the 
Chairman of the Shell Pakistan Limited 
Board. Prior to this Zain worked as the 
GM for Shell Fleet Solutions for Asia 
based out of Singapore and before that 
was the GM for Pricing and Demand 
Management based in Houston and GM 
Licensed Markets based in Switzerland. 
Zain has completed his Graduate 
studies at the University of Cambridge, 
United Kingdom and Undergraduate 
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Ms. Lamees Al Lawati from Shell Oman receiving Al Mar’a Excellence Award for Petroleum Services from H.E. Dr. Rahma bint Ibrahim Al Mahrooqi, Minister for 
Higher Education, Research and Innovation (MoHERI)

academics from the Coe College of 
USA. His primary and secondary 
schooling was at the Karachi Grammar 
School in Pakistan. 

Ishaq Al-Mawali

Ishaq, is an Omani national and is 
currently employed as the Investment 
director at the Public Authority for Social 
Insurance (PASI). Ishaq holds Masters 
and BSc degrees in Finance and has 
around 20 years of work experience 
mostly in PASI. He is also a member of 
the board of directors of Bank Nizwa 
SAOG since 2019, and National Gas 
SAOG since 2020.

Richard Jory 

Richard was appointed as Shell’s SVP, 
Distribution Operations in August 2021. 
His focus is to ensure the safe, compliant 
and competitive distribution of products 
to Shell’s customers across the globe 
and delivering engineering solutions 
to Shell’s Downstream and Integrated 
Gas businesses. Prior to his current 
role, Richard was SVP, Supply Chain for 
Global Lubricants, the market leader for 
15 consecutive years. Under Richard’s 

leadership, the competitiveness of the 
global supply chain was improved, 
including sourcing, manufacturing and 
logistics whilst delivering sustainability 
objectives. Richard was VP Global 
Key Accounts & Global Businesses 
from 2017, where he successfully 
grew Shell’s commercial relationships 
with major global customers, started 
the digital transformation of the 
Shell Marine Products business and 
drove Sales Excellence across Shell’s 
marketing businesses. Richard has 
previously worked in a broad range of 
P&L and strategy roles including GM 
Network Planning & Real Estate for Shell 
Retail, GM Shell Aviation Middle East, 
South Asia and Africa, GTL Marketing 
Manager and Global Biofuels Manager. 
Richard served as Shell’s Downstream 
GM in the Middle East, leading a 
complete business transition in the 
region. Richard continues to serve as a 
Director on various company boards. He 
joined Shell in 1996 and has worked in 
the Czech Republic, Romania, Russia, 
The Netherlands, the UAE, Singapore 
and the UK. Richard was born in the 
United Kingdom and graduated from 

Bath University with a BSc in Economics. 

Mooi Fung Farm

Mooi-Fung is currently Shell’s Vice 
President Human Resources Mobility 
based in London. In this role, she has 
overall accountability for HR with a 
primary focus on Talent management, 
Learning, Change management, 
Performance Management and 
Employee Engagement for over half a 
million people. Mooi-Fung has spent 
over 20+ years in the energy sector, 
with her first role in Shell’s Sales and 
Marketing organisation building her 
commercial acumen following which 
she pursued her career in HR.

Ali Al Kharusi

Ali Al Kharusi is a Deputy Director of 
Financial Affairs at Ministry of Defense 
Pension Fund since 2019 and has more 
than 15 year of experience. In this role, 
He is responsible for budgeting, financial 
reporting and all other financial affairs 
of MODPF. Ali holds bachelor’s degree 
as an Accountant in CCE and MBA from 
Sultan Qaboos University. He is also 
an ACCA candidate. Ali holds current 
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board membership at Emdad logistics and Oman Tourism Investment Company and 
has held previous board memberships in Oman Growth Fund, Al Madina Insurance 
Company SAOG as well as Tilal Fund.

Adriaan Ritskes

Adriaan Ritskes is a Finance leader (Chartered Controller) with more than 16 years 
of international experience in Royal Dutch Shell across Corporate Finance/M&A, 
Upstream, Exploration, Integrated Gas, Trading & Supply and Controllers in the 
Netherlands, Nigeria, United Arab Emirates and Oman, in both corporate and 
business facing roles. In October 2019, he was appointed as Country Finance 
Manager for Oman Shell, based in Muscat. Ritskes holds a master’s degree in 
Business Administration from the Rotterdam School of Management and has 
obtained an Executive Master of Finance and Control (professional Chartered 
Controller) qualification from the Erasmus School of Accounting and Assurance.

Company Secretary
The Board Secretary is Lamees Al Lawati. She has held the role as Board Secretary 
since December 2015. Lamees is a finance professional with over 15 years of work 
experience in Shell in the downstream and upstream Shell business lines. In her 
Board Secretary capacity, she works with the Chairman and the Board in planning 
and executing the Board meetings, recording minutes of every Board meeting, and 
ensuring compliance with rules and regulations

Legal Advisor 
The Legal Advisor is Azzan Al Yahmadi. He has 11 years of experience in Muscat, 
Abu Dhabi and Dubai. He worked in a number of sectors including international 
law firms, energy, construction and aviation. 

Remuneration Matters
Each Non-Executive Director is awarded RO 800 as a sitting fee for every Board 
meeting and Annual General Meeting attended, and RO 400 for every Audit 
Committee and Nomination & Remuneration Committee meeting attended. Annual 
remuneration is awarded as long as the sum of sitting fees does not exceed RO 
10,000 and the total remuneration does not exceed RO 17,000 per Director. The 
total sittings fees and remuneration for year ended 31 December, 2021 was RO 
81,800.

Details of Directors’ Remuneration
The details of Director’s remuneration for the year 2021 is as follows:

Director’s Remuneration
Annual 

Remuneration 
(OMR)

Sitting Fees 
(OMR)

Grand 
Total

Chairman, Board of Directors 0 0 0

Board Members 41,000 40,800 81,800

Grand Total 41,000 40,800 81,800

In line with Royal Dutch Shell’s global policy, Shell Board Directors waved their 
sitting fees and remuneration.        

The total remuneration such as salaries, benefits, bonuses, stock options, pension 
contributions & perquisites paid to the top five officers of the company was 
RO 655,329 in 2021. 

The annual performance bonus is 
determined by taking into account 
the market condition, the employee’s 
individual performance and the 
Company’s overall performance against 
agreed targets, which take into account 
financial, HSSE and operational 
parameters.

All Company employees have 
employment contracts that are in line 
with the regulations specified by the 
Ministry of Manpower. The minimum 
notice period for termination of 
employment contracts is 1-month

Audit Committee of the Board
The Audit Committee was reconstituted 
by the Board in 2021 in which 
they appointed three Independent 
Directors and one Non-Independent 
Director. Shabib Al-Darmaki who is an 
Independent Director is the Committee’s 
Chairman. The committee held six 
meetings during 2021, all of which had 
been minuted. The dates of the meetings 
were 25 January, 7 February, 27 April, 
26 July, 26 October and 24 November 

The audit charter approved by the Board 
includes the main responsibilities of the 
Audit Committee as follows:

n Reviewing the annual audited 
financial statements and the 
Auditors’ Report on the statements 
prior to submission to the Board for 
approval;

n Reviewing and approving the interim 
financial statements prior to public 
release and filing;

n Reviewing the scope of external and 
internal audits;

n Reviewing and discussing accounting 
and reporting policies and changes 
in accounting principles;

n Assessing the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control systems 
and procedures, and the process for 
identifying principal business risks;

n Reviewing compliance with the 
Code of Conduct;
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n Reviewing legal matters with 
counsel;

n Reviewing directors’ and officers’ 
expenses and related party 
transactions; and

n Meeting with the internal and 
external auditors independently of 
management of the Company.

Attendance record of the 
Audit Committee Members

Name of Director
No. of 

meetings
Meetings 
attended

Shabib Al Darmaki 6 6

Ali Al Kharusi (From 
4th March 2021) 4 4

Juma Al Khamisi (Up 
to 4th March 2021) 2 2

Adriaan Ritskes 
(From 4th March 
2021)

4 4

Faisal Waheed (Up 
to 4th March 2021) 2 1

Ishaq Al Mawali 6 6

Chief Internal Auditor
Murad Al Bulushi is the Chief Internal 
Auditor and Audit Committee 
Secretary reporting to the Audit 
Committee since March 2020. He is a 
Certified Internal Auditor with over 17 
years of experience and knowledge in 
the field of Internal Audit across both the 
public and private sector companies in 
Oman. 

Along with a MBA from Griffith University 
Australia, Murad is a Certified Fraud 
Examiner (CFE), a Certified Internal 
Auditor (CIA), a Certified Information 
Systems Auditor (CISA), and holds 
the Certification in Risk Management 
Assurance (CRMA). He also serves as a 
Board member of Association of Fraud 
Examiners, Oman Chapter.

Audit and Internal Control
In consultation with the Audit Committee, 

the Board of Directors recommended 
the appointment of external auditors 
to the Annual General Meeting. The 
shareholders have, therefore, appointed 
Moore Stephens as the external auditors 
for the financial year 2021.   

In accordance with the Corporate 
Governance Code, the services of 
Moore Stephens are not used where a 
conflict of interest might occur. The Audit 
Committee has reviewed, on behalf of 
the Board, the effectiveness of internal 
controls by meeting the internal auditor, 
reviewing the internal audit reports 
and recommendations and meeting the 
external auditor, reviewing the audit 
findings report and the management 
letter. The Audit Committee and the 
Board are pleased to inform the 
shareholders that, in their opinion, an 
adequate and effective internal control 
system is in place. 

Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee (NRCO)
The committee held two meetings during 
2021, all of which had been minuted. 
The dates of the meetings were, 26 
April, 2 December.

NRCOs key responsibilities include:

n Establishing a remuneration & 
incentive policy for Directors and 
Executive Management;

n Defining the basis for bonus payment 
to Executive Management;

n Monitor the structure and level 
of remuneration for Executive 
Management;

n Support the process for appointment 
of skilled persons to the Board of 
Directors;

n Succession Planning for Directors 
and Executive Management;

n Assist in selecting highly skilled 
personnel to fill Executive 
Management positions;

NRCO operates within its terms of 
reference issued by the Board of 
Directors.   

Attendance record of the 
NRCO Committee Members

Name of Director
No. of 

meetings
Meetings 
attended

Ghalib Al Busaidi 
(Committee 
Chairman)

2 2

Sheikh Faisal 
Al Hashar 2 2

Walid Hadi 2 2

Zain Hak 2 1

Annual General Meeting
The company’s Annual Report contains 
written clarifications on each item on 
the agenda of the Annual General 
Meeting so that shareholders are 
suitably briefed on matters that are to 
be discussed to enable their effective 
participation thereat. The Directors 
encourage shareholders to attend 
and participate in the Annual General 
Meeting. Questions posed are, where 
possible, answered in detail either at 
the Annual General Meeting itself or 
thereafter. Shareholders are welcome to 
raise queries by contacting the company 
at any time throughout the year and not 
just at the Annual General Meeting. 

Means of Communication 
with the Shareholders and 
Investors
The company has its own website and 
all vital information relating to the 
company and its performance, including 
quarterly results, official press releases, 
annual reports and governance-related 
policies and procedures are posted on 
the website for all interested parties. The 
Company’s website is https://www.
shelloman.com.om

Financial Reporting
The company presents quarterly public 
financial announcements that include 
details of the company’s business 
performance and current issues and 
concerns. As per legal requirements and 
policy, quarterly and annual results of the 
company’s performance are disclosed in 
the MSX electronic dissemination system 
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and the company’s website. In addition 
to that, the company’s performance is 
published in the leading newspapers in 
both Arabic and English. The company 
started filing the financial reports via the 
XBRL Portal that was launched by CMA 
in Q3 2021. The Directors review the 
quarter financial results at their Board 
Meetings prior to publication to ensure 
that they are accurate and present a 
clear assessment of the company’s 
affairs.

Further, the company entertains specific 
meetings with analysts and shareholders, 
upon request, as appropriate. 

Dividend Policy
The company’s dividend policy is to 
remit the optimum amount of profit, in 
any operating year, to shareholders. 
Several factors will be considered 
whilst making this decision such as 
future investment plans, working capital 
requirements, access to liquidity, and 
other constraints. If, in accordance 
with the business plans, excess funds 
and profits are available, the company 
would consider payment of an interim 
dividend. In line with this policy, the 
company is expected to pay a dividend 
for the year 2021 in March 2022.

Market Price Data
Monthly high / low share price data for 
the financial year 2021

Month 2021 High Low Volume

January 1.000 0.900 9,563

February 0.980 0.820 67,870

March 0.880 0.820 138,718

April 0.840 0.780 189,239

May 0.852 0.796 168,030

June 0.948 0.804 296,255

July 1.000 0.884 94,140

August 0.912 0.880 58,575

September 0.920 0.900 11,280

October 0.940 0.920 1,056,640

November 0.920 0.860 3,228

December 0.912 0.892 1,543

Performance in Comparison to the Broad-Based Index of the 
MSX

The Shell Group holds, through 5 wholly owned Shell subsidiaries, 49% of the 
shares, whereas 51% of the shares are held by other investors and traded in the 
MSX. In line with the Commercial Companies Law and the company’s Articles of 
Association, 5,000,000 shares of the company have a preferential characteristic, 
in that they are multi-vote shares. The Shell Group owning those multi-vote shares 
thereby is able to cast 54,000,000 votes at the ordinary general meeting. This will 
not itself enable them to control an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company.

Major Shareholders (as on December 31, 2021)

Shareholder Name No of shares held Shareholding %

B.V. Dordtsche Petroleum Maatschappij 18,700,000 18.70

Shell Overseas Investment BV 20,000,000 20.00

Shell Petroleum NV 10,100,000 10.10

Civil Service Employees Pension Fund 9,904,952 9.90

Public Authority For Social Insurance 9,050,662 9.05

Details of Non-Compliance by the Company
There have been no instances of non-compliance on any matter relating to the 
Commercial Companies Law No18/2019 of the Sultanate of Oman, as amended, 
the Code, CMA regulations or the MSX listing agreements during the past three 
years.

Professional Profile of the Statutory Auditor
The shareholders of the company appointed Moore Stephens as the company’s 
auditors for the year 2021. 

Moore Stephens LLC, Oman is part of the Moore Global network, which is 
regarded as one of the world’s major accounting and consulting networks, with its 
headquarters in London, consisting of more than 260 independent firms with 547 

Share Price Relative Performance
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offices and more than 29,890 people 
across 113 countries. 

The Oman office commenced practice in 
the Sultanate of Oman in 1988. Over 
the years, the practice has developed 
considerably and now services a 
number of clients, including major 
listed companies, Groups, government 
organisations and Ministries providing 
either audit, tax or management 
consultancy services. The local staff 
strength is around 65, most of whom 
are qualified Chartered Accountants, 
internal auditors and information 
systems auditors. During the year 2021, 
Moore Stephens billed an amount of RO 
12,000 towards professional services 
rendered to the company. 

Acknowledgement by Board 
of Directors
The Directors are required by the 
Commercial Companies Law No. 
18/2019 to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which 
have been prepared in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) to fairly reflect the 
financial position of the company and 
its financial performance during the 
relevant financial period.

In preparing the financial statements, 
the Directors have:

n Selected suitable accounting policies 
and applied them consistently;

n Made judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent;

n Ensured that all applicable 
accounting standards have been 
followed; and

n Prepared financial statements on the 
going concern basis as the Directors 
have a reasonable expectation, 
having made enquiries, that the 
company have adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future.

The Directors have responsibility 
towards ensuring that the company keep 
accounting records which disclose, with 
reasonable accuracy, the financial 

position of the company and which 
enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Commercial 
Companies Law No. 18/2019

The Board affirms its overall responsibility 
for the company’s systems of internal 
controls and risk management, and for 
reviewing the adequacy and integrity 
of those systems. It should be noted, 
however, that such systems are designed 
to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve business objectives. 
In addition, it should be noted that any 
system can provide only reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

Walid Hadi
Chairman, Board of Directors
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Flying and Sailing High 
A collaborative approach to connect Oman’s beautiful landscape by air and 
sea is at the heart of our business. Our aim is to ensure that all journeys have 
the best experience. Today, our increasingly interconnected world presents 
more and more opportunities for business, community and individual growth 
through aviation. With quality fuels, lubricants technologies and solutions, as 
well as Shell Bitumen with PMB, Shell Oman is committed to play a pivotal role 
in Oman’s ambitious plans for the logistics sector. In this progressive journey, 
Shell Oman is honoured to partner in the contribution to the Sultanate’s 
economic diversity goals as part of our long-standing commitment to support 
Oman Vision 2040.
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Health, Safety, Security and 
Environment (HSSE)

Shell Oman Marketing Company SAOG 

concluded 2021 without a recordable 

Lost Time Injury (LTI) incident, which is 

a testament to our strong commitment to 

HSSE. This performance comes in the 

backdrop of a year which continued to 

be impacted by the pandemic and saw 

risks to people and assets due to Cyclone 

Shaheen and was facilitated by the 

robust execution of business continuity 

plans, with safety of staff, contractors, 

customers, and stakeholders always as 

the highest priority. The Company also 

continued its efforts towards building 

people’s competencies and gaining 

assurance on the effectiveness of its 

risk management policies associated 

with day-to-day operations. Promoting 

and driving the culture of safety through 

caring for oneself and others, as well 

as adopting an intervention mindset, 

continued to be main pillars in this area. 

During the year, the company 

implemented several HSSE initiatives to 

enhance workplace safety and enable 

businesses to operate in a safe manner. 

This included launching and leveraging 

digital solutions such as online change 

management, electronic permit to 

work, and improving digital incident 

reporting. Furthermore, we continued 

various campaigns and training 

programmes such as Safety Day, new 

Life-Saving Rules, Basic HSSE, First Aid, 

Firefighting, Health Session, Defensive 

Driving and Food Safety.

The company also continued to 

demonstrate its commitment towards 

a sustainable environment to achieve 

its net-zero emissions ambition, with 

the launch of its second solar-powered 

service station this year.

Human Resources (HR)

Business Environment

As we continue to navigate the 

challenges brought on by the pandemic, 

the Company remained resilient and 

keen on maximising all available 

opportunities to adapt with the 

ongoing uncertainties and evolve its 

way of doing business. The company 

continued to showcase its commitment 

towards sustaining a value proposition 

that attracts the best talents, keeps 

them engaged and motivates them to 

outperform. This had been achieved 

through the continued demonstration 

of the highest level of care for their 

physical, mental, and social wellbeing 

coupled with providing our talents with 

meaningful, challenging and rewarding 

roles. Furthermore, the company carried 

on providing appropriate tools and 

resources for staff to continue to perform 

Shell Regional and Global Leadership Team recognizing Omani SMEs for their efforts in dealing with the impact of cyclone Shaheen.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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and deliver consistently at the highest 

levels remotely from any location within 

or outside of the country.

Performance

In 2021, significant people strategies 

were delivered including the successful 

completion of a cutting-edge HR cloud 

application. Moreover, HR successfully 

supported businesses and functions 

to deliver an organisational change 

programme to further enhance the 

company’s customer centricity, efficiency 

and maximise performance. In addition, 

the company completed major works 

associated with the new corporate head 

office in Mina Al Fahal. The new building 

design incorporates environmental 

and sustainable strategies that were 

developed to deliver cost-effective 

energy savings and be designed 

to LEED (Leadership in Energy and 

Environmental Design) and BREEAM 

(Building Research Establishment 

Environment Assessment Method) 

guidelines. The new building promises 

to transform our working environment to 

an integrated ecosystem that promotes 

collaboration and creativity as we look 

to Power Progress together.

From an In-Country Value (ICV) 

perspective, the company continued to 

sustain a high level of Omanisation, 

where more than 96% of the workforce 

consists of high calibre Omani talents. 

The year also witnessed the successful 

resumption of the student internship 

scheme after a brief pause due to the 

pandemic. This scheme offered great on 

the job learning opportunities to more 

than 22 aspiring talents. 

The company strongly believes that 

sustaining a high level of employee 

engagement is critical in delivering 

business success. In 2021, Shell 

Oman Marketing Company employees 

delivered the highest participation 

rate ever of 99% in the annual Shell 

People Survey and the results of all 

the parameters in the survey outcome 

continued to be ahead of the Shell 

global top quartile benchmarks. This 

success is underlined by the quality of 

the team leaders in continuing to create 

and sustain a work environment and 

providing a culture which encourages 

collaboration, performance, and 

teamwork.

Through its constant commitment and 

effort to foster a safe, challenging, 

engaging, and rewarding working 

environment, the company continued to 

strengthen its resolve to be the nation’s 

‘Employer of Choice’.

Mobility

Business Performance 

The Mobility Business remains the 

largest segment of the company. Despite 

challenging market conditions due to 

the continuing impact of COVID-19 

on mobility and commercial activities 

throughout the year, the business 

remained resilient and focused on 

the safety of customers and frontlines 

while continuing to deliver superior 

products and services; reaffirming the 

company’s care towards customers and 

the community at large. 

Mobility business recorded volume 

growth compared to last year, driven 

by the various marketing campaigns 

that were designed to deliver integrated 

offers and provide differentiated 

experiences to our customers, including 

the offering of Shell V-Power as our best 

performance and efficiency fuel to all 

customers across Oman. Moreover, the 

company expanded its social and digital 

media presence through engaging 

content and promotions as a strategic 

step to extend its reach. 

This year the company resumed its 

network expansion by opening one 

prime location at Muscat express road 

and started the construction of four 

integrated service stations at Batinah 

express road which are expected to be 

completed in Q1 2022.  

In Non-Fuel Retail (NFR) the business 

expanded the new generation of Shell 

Select experience in Oman with the 

opening of seven new convenience 

stores during the year, in collaboration 

with local Omani Small and Medium 

Enterprises (SMEs), along with 

expanding the range of products and 

car care services to customers through 

the existing network.

Fleet Solutions Business remained 

challenging as Business-to-Business 

(B2B) customers continue to deal with 

the economic and financial impact 

of COVID-19 related restrictions.  

The business remained resilient and 

continued to increase its portfolio by 

signing new customers, leveraging the 

Cards Management System to provide 

better control and enabling a superior 

experience for fleets customers. The 

focus remained on supporting customers 

with the acceleration of the digitalisation 

journey, through offering automation to 

provide a touchless experience and 

other innovative business and financial 

solutions.

Commercial Fuels Business market 

conditions remained challenging due to 

the macroeconomic impacts affecting 
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mobility and infrastructure projects as 

well as overall commercial activities 

across industries. The business continued 

to serve and support its customers 

by providing on-time fuel delivery at 

customer locations to ensure sustainable 

operations and business continuity. 

The focus continued primarily on new 

opportunities, signing new customers, 

focusing on operational excellence, and 

quality service to retain key customers. 

Marine Business volumes have been 

impacted as a result of COVID-19 

restrictions, with limited activity due to 

the cancellation of several scheduled 

commercial and cruise vessels at main 

ports. However, the company continued 

to serve local Marine customers while 

adhering to the highest HSSE and 

operational excellence standards. The 

company signed an agreement with 

Asyad to provide bunkering facilities 

at Port Sultan Qaboos and other ports 

operating under Asyad. Additionally, 

the company continued to explore new 

opportunities to expand its operations 

and add new ports to its portfolio.    

Shell Lubricants 

Business Environment:

The challenges imposed by the 

COVID-19 pandemic and overall 

economic situation continued to impact 

the performance of the lubricants 

business in 2021 which contributed to 

lower demands overall in both local and 

international markets. In particular, high-

street outlets and franchise workshops 

were affected heavily due to various 

lockdowns and disruptions to business 

activities. The volume challenge was also 

seen in the construction sector as many 

B2B companies shrunk their operations 

and fleets due to the number of projects 

and business opportunities, which 

impacted the volumes significantly. 

Moreover, a considerable export 

volume decline was witnessed in 2021 

in comparison to last year due to the 

same challenges. Base oil prices have 

seen a significant rise in 2021 coupled 

with global supply chain shortages, 

which added further pressure on gross 

margins in all operating sectors.   

Performance:

Despite these challenges, the distributors 

business and Oil & Gas sector were able 

to deliver growth in volumes compared 

to 2020. In addition, Shell Lubricant 

Blending Plant in Mina Al Fahal was 

able to cater volumes for the local and 

export market without any LTI or leak. 

In both B2B and Business to Customer 

(B2C) indirect channels, the business 

grew the volume by investing in targeted 

marketing activities, focusing on 

premium grades and selling a new line 

His Excellency Dr. Mohammed bin Hamad Al Rumhi, Minister of Energy and Minerals awarding Dr. Mohammed Al Balushi, CEO, Shell Oman with the Oman’s 
Most Trusted Brands awards for Shell Service Stations and Shell Helix Lubricants.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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of products. The business maintained its 

strong footprints in the Oil & Gas sector 

and retained long term partnership with 

the valuable accounts operating in this 

sector. The business revisited its pricing 

strategy to proactively address the 

unprecedented base oil price increase 

and avoid margin erosion. This has 

been in line with Shell Lubricants being 

a competitive player in the market and 

maintaining market leadership. The 

lubricant business continued to sell more 

premium volumes during the year to 

key accounts and increased premium 

penetration in the indirect channel, 

franchise workshop and significant 

independent workshops. 

Outlook:

The Lubricants business’s strategy to 

extend leadership in the market in 

all sectors will remain a priority while 

committing to provide the most innovative 

products and services. The company 

will continue to leverage its strategic 

advancement as the only downstream 

company with an ISO-certified Lubricants 

Blending Plant in Oman. The business is 

determined to grow from a volume and 

margin perspective, and is committed to 

its partners, distributors, and customers 

to maintain high safety standards and 

ensure operational excellence and 

customer satisfaction.

Shell Lubricants will continue to 

offer products and services that are 

designed to help organisations embed 

sustainability into their business 

strategies. We realize that satisfying 

commercial or societal obligations is no 

longer a binary choice and cannot be 

achieved without the other. Accordingly, 

our focus has been on introducing oils 

and greases designed to help industry 

and transport operators improve 

their energy and fuel efficiency. Shell 

Lubricants provides a range of solutions 

to help customers achieve operational 

excellence and reduce environmental 

impact by improving equipment 

performance and energy efficiency. 

Aviation

Business Environment

In 2021, the aviation sector in Oman 

was expected to be a recovery 

segment for the economy. However, 

industry demand remained depressed 

due to continuing challenges posed 

by COVID-19 and the various travel 

constraints. 

Performance

The company’s Aviation team won 

new business, especially in the cargo 

sector, and retained important contracts 

at Muscat International Airport, which 

contributed significantly to the overall 

performance. However, due to the 

current market conditions and lower-

price market demand, the company lost 

a tender to renew one of its accounts in 

the Sultanate. 

Operationally, the track record of 

commitment to excellence continued with 

the Company operating the fuel farms in 

both Muscat and Salalah airports. The 

business also continued operating at 

Petroleum Development Oman’s (PDO) 

Oil Fields Airport with high standards of 

safety and operational excellence. 

Outlook

The tourism sector in Oman was 

impacted negatively in 2021 due to the 

COVID-19 pandemic, especially during 

the Khareef season in Salalah. Both the 

tourism sector and the aviation industry 

are expected to take a number of 

years before passenger traffic volumes 

recover to the levels witnessed before 

the pandemic. However, the opening of 

new cargo facilities at both Muscat and 

Salalah airports is expected to contribute 

positively in the recovery journey. The 

company is positioning itself to play 

a significant role in supporting the 

recovery and growth of the aviation 

industry in Oman in the years ahead.

Trading and Supply (T&S) 

Business Environment 

HSSE remained a top priority with the 

full focus on Road Transport Safety and 

Process Safety to ensure ‘Goal Zero’ - no 

harm no leak in the face of challenging 

weather conditions experienced in 

2021. 

Performance 

The business demonstrated a robust 

performance in 2021 and continued 

to deliver a strong safety culture with 

Zero Process Safety and Road Transport 

Incidents, ensuring the delivery of ‘No 

Harm, No Leak’, while carrying out the 

operations efficiently and effectively 

within the planned cost. Also, more 

resources were assessed and certified in 

operation safety in different areas within 

Shell Oman facilities.  The business also 

renewed arrangements to efficiently 

increase the utilisation of tanks at the 

company’s Mina Al Fahal Terminal 

(MAFT). Moreover, the company took 

steps to further review, test and optimise 

its supply chain including looking into 

and testing various supply chain options.

To improve road transport standards, 

customised and especially compliant 

aluminium tankers were introduced 

to the fleet. In addition, Shell Oman 

has completed the installation of in-
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cab cameras in all its fleets, as part 

of its efforts to keep our drivers and 

community safe. 

Outlook 

HSSE remains the top priority. In Process 

Safety, the aim is to achieve best-in-class 

reliability and asset integrity programme 

(DGAME) in MAF facilities as well as 

Port Sultan Qaboos. In road transport, 

the focus will continue to be on further 

developing professional hauliers, along 

with continuing the work with hauliers 

on the Omanisation of drivers. 

Customer Operations

Performance and Business 
Environment

With a customer centric mindset, 

Customer Operations proactively 

focused on improving the planning of 

our customer’s end-to-end experience 

with Shell Oman Marketing Company. 

The team also helped in addressing 

credit related issues and led efforts 

in migrating customers to e-invoice in 

order to enhance customer experience 

and contribute to the company’s 

environmental initiatives. In line with past 

performance the business continued to 

perform well in the Customer Satisfaction 

Index (CSI).

Outlook

In 2022, we will continue to grow our 

Front-line Operations teams in line with 

demand from Shell businesses whilst 

delivering on improved yield and 

affordability. 

People remain the differentiators. 

Continued care and support 

demonstrated internally and with 

customers, built a very supportive 

working environment where individuals 

can thrive and progress. Focus will 

also continue in the spaces of people 

development and digitalisation. 

Corporate Social 
Responsibility

Business Environment 

Given the sustained challenges 

throughout the year, Shell Oman 

Marketing Company SAOG continued 

with its proactive approach to mitigate 

the impact of the pandemic on people 

and the organisation. 

These measures included reprioritising 

and reinforcing resources to maintain 

financial resilience. In addition, further 

emphasis was put on continuous 

engagement with stakeholders in the 

public and private sectors to assist 

in coordinating support and ensure 

effective business continuity, so essential 

mobility and energy supply remain 

undisturbed. In this, the Company 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Shell Oman receiving an award from Oman Chamber of Commerce & Industry (OCCI) for its support and contribution to social responsibility programs in the 
Sultanate of Oman.
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played an active role collaborating with 

other Shell Joint Ventures (JVs) and other 

partners to support the national efforts. 

In October of this year, cyclone Shaheen 

made landfall in far northern Oman with 

winds nearly of Category 1 hurricane 

level and unprecedented levels of rain. 

Regrettably, the country lost some lives 

in the tropical situation which also 

forced many people into temporary 

shelters. The company concluded its 

assessment of the extent of the impact 

caused by the cyclone which indicated 

that there is no material financial impact 

on its businesses or assets, which have 

also been insured. Staff and contractors 

remained safe during the event. 

While some Shell service stations and 

operations were impacted during the 

weather conditions, business activities at 

all sites resumed safely and promptly as 

soon as safety of people and operations 

was confirmed. 

Performance 

The company continued to explore 

opportunities to support initiatives 

in the society, with a focus on ICV, 

enterprise development, road safety and 

environment. This includes supporting 

Omani SMEs from the sector with first-

hand experience, inter-organisational 

knowledge transfer and promotional 

support in collaboration with subject 

matter experts. In addition, the company 

collaborated with Shell Development 

Oman in various internal and external 

programmes, including the National 

Day, Omani Women Day, Ethics & 

Compliance Day, HSSE Day and others, 

capitalizing on the shared brand and 

resources.

The annual tradition during the holy 

month of Ramadan continued by 

distributing ration packages to hundreds 

of families. As part of a long-term 

agreement with Outward Bound Oman, 

an educational non-profit organisation, 

Shell Oman Marketing Company 

continued to be the ‘Fuel Partner’ for the 

outdoor experiences and self-discovery 

activities they offer. These experiences 

help Omani youth raise their self-esteem, 

realise their full potential, and help better 

shape their characters for the work 

environment. Shell Oman Marketing 

Company also coordinated with Oman 

Society for Petroleum Services (OPAL) to 

support various training for employment 

programmes which would continue into 

2022. These workshops will focus on 

renewables and sustainability related 

upskilling programmes and are expected 

to add immense value to Omani talents. 

SI Theme
Amount 

(Spent RO)

Road Safety 1,560

Environment 11,500

Community and 
Enterprise Development 46,940

Total 60,000

Outlook

Shell Oman Marketing Company is 

committed to collaborate and work 

with all stakeholders to reinforce its 

role as a responsible corporate citizen 

serving Oman and its people under 

the leadership of His Majesty Sultan 

Haitham bin Tarik and do its duty in 

support of His Majesty’s vision for the 

Sultanate.  It will continue to play is 

role in the energy transition journey in 

the Sultanate and align the company’s 

long-term strategy and direction with the 

Group’s Powering Progress strategy as 

well as Oman Vision 2040. 
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Powering Mobility
Shell Oman is proud to be a mobility  partner in Oman’s 
remarkable development and progress. Shell Oman’s Lubes 
Blending plant is the only ISO certified facility of its kind in the 
country, creating ICV with Made in Oman products. Today, 
its fuel storage facilities serve as the backbone of enabling 
continuous and consistent movement in Oman. To enable a future 
of sustainable mobility, Shell Oman is deploying resources, 
expertise, and best practices neccessary for the country’s next 
era of growth.

31



AUDITOR’S REPORT ON 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 Annual Report 2021



33



34 Annual Report 2021

AUDITOR’S REPORT



35



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2021 2020           
Notes RO’000 RO’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 56,843 54,882
Intangible assets 6 49 69
Right-of-use assets 7 c) 27,986 29,755
Total non-current assets 84,878 84,706

Current assets
Inventories 8 8,551 6,646
Trade and other receivables 9 39,222 33,901
Cash and cash equivalents 10 8,796 4,607
Total current assets 56,569 45,154
Total assets 141,447 129,860

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 
Share capital 11 a)  10,000 10,000
Legal reserve 12  3,587 3,587
Retained earnings  39,913 36,302
Total equity 53,500 49,889

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Non-current portion of term loan 17 3,334 6,667
Non-current portion of lease liabilities 7 d) 24,216 25,770
Deferred taxation 23 38 51
Employees’ end of service benefits 22 b) 280 301
Total non-current liabilities 27,868 32,789

Current liabilities
Current portion of term loan 17 3,333 3,333
Current portion of lease liabilities 7 d) 3,063 3,375
Trade and other payables 14 52,890 40,003
Taxation 23 667 282
Provision for employee retention scheme 15 126 189
Total current liabilities 60,079 47,182

Total liabilities 87,947 79,971

Total equity and liabilities 141,447 129,860

Net assets per share 25 0.535 0.499

These financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Board of Directors on 15 February 2022 and were 
signed on their behalf by:

Chairman Director

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2021
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Notes RO’000 RO’000

INCOME

Revenue from contracts with customers 19  398,429 367,090

Cost of sales  (368,390) (339,855)

Gross profit 30,039 27,235         

Other income 20  4,035 4,927

Selling and distribution expenses  (22,705)  (22,503)

General and administration expenses (5,325) (4,607)

Operating profit 6,044 5,052

Finance costs 21  (1,797) (2,001)

Finance income  20 26

Profit for the year before taxation 4,267 3,077

Taxation 23 (656) (493)

Net profit and total comprehensive income for the year 3,611 2,584

Basic earnings per share 24 0.036 0.026

Note: The Company has no items of other comprehensive income.

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2021

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Share
capital

Legal
reserve

Retained
earnings Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

[note 11 a)] (note 12)

At 31 December 2019 10,000 3,587 40,318 53,905

Net profit and total comprehensive income for the year -- -- 2,584 2,584

Cash dividend paid during the year -- -- (6,600) (6,600)

At 31 December 2020 10,000 3,587 36,302 49,889

At 31 December 2020 10,000 3,587 36,302 49,889

Net profit and total comprehensive income for the year -- -- 3,611 3,611

At 31 December 2021 10,000 3,587 39,913 53,500

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020           
Notes RO’000 RO’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year before taxation 4,267 3,077
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 5 a) & 7 g) 8,545 8,425
Amortisation 6 20 108
Provision for employee retention scheme 15 42 61
Accrual for employees’ end of service benefits 22 b) 40 36
Allowance for expected credit losses 9 b) 186 40
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5) (2)
Finance costs 21 1,797 2,001
Finance income (20) (26)
Operating cash flows before working capital changes 14,872 13,720
Working capital changes
Inventories (1,905) 556
Trade and other receivables (5,588) 25,787
Trade and other payables 11,512 (19,848)
Cash generated from operations 18,891 20,215
Employee retention scheme paid 15 (105) (127)
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 22 b) (61) (6)
Income taxes paid (284) (2,025)
Net cash generated from operating activities 18,441 18,057

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and equipment (5,359) (2,628)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 61
Interest received 20 26
Net cash used in investing activities (5,334) (2,541)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid -- (6,600)
Finance charges paid 21 (1,797) (2,001)
Net movement from term loans (3,333) 4,000
Net movement in bank borrowings -- (11,000)
Payment of  principal portion of lease liabilities paid (3,788) (2,821)
Net cash used in financing activities (8,918) (18,422)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the year 4,189 (2,906)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 4,607 7,513

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 10 8,796 4,607

The attached notes 1 to 30 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

1 LEGAL STATUS AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Shell Oman Marketing Company SAOG (‘the Company’) is a public joint stock company registered under the Commercial 
Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman. The principal activity of the Company is the marketing and distribution of 
petroleum products and blending of lubricants. The principal place of business is located at Mina Al Fahal, Muscat, 
Sultanate of Oman.

The financial statements of the Company are consolidated in the financial statements of Shell plc (the ultimate parent 
company), a company incorporated in the United Kingdom.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRS
 
2.1 Basis of preparation

a) Going concern basis

At 31 December 2021, the Company’s current liabilities exceeds the current assets by RO 3,510 thousand (31 
December 2020 – RO 2,028 thousand). These financial statements are however prepared on a going concern basis 
which primarily assumes that the Company will continue to generate adequate funds from operations to meet its 
financial obligations as and when they fall due.

b) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), the relevant requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of the 
Sultanate of Oman and the relevant disclosure requirements issued by the Capital Market Authority.

The financial statements are presented in Rial Omani (RO) and rounded off to the nearest thousand.

2.2 New and amended IFRS adopted by the Company

The financial statements have been drawn up based on accounting standards, interpretations and amendments effective 
at 1 January 2021. The Company has adopted the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by 
International Accounting Standards Board and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, which 
were effective for the current accounting period:

• Amendments to IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ extends the availability of the practical expedient related to COVID 19 related rent 
concessions beyond 30 June 2021. The practical expedient applies to rent concessions relating to lease payments 
originally due on or before 30 June 2022. Although, the amendment is applicable for annual periods commencing 
on or after 1 April 2021, the Company has early adopted the amendment. The early adoption of the amendment has 
resulted in recognition of rent concession which has been reduced from the rent expense for the year. 

• Amendments to IFRS 4, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 & IAS 39 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 require 
entities to reflect the effects of transitioning from benchmark interest rates, such as interbank offer rates to alternative 
benchmark interest rates without giving rise to accounting impacts that would not provide useful information to users 
of financial statements.

The Management believes the adoption of the above amendments has not had any material impact on the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of items in the financial statements for the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRS (Continued)

2.3 New and amended IFRS which are in issue but not yet effective 

At the end of the reporting period, the following significant new and revised standards were in issue but not yet effective:

·	 IFRS 17 ‘Insurance contracts’ establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
insurance contracts issued. It also requires similar principles to be applied to reinsurance contracts held and investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features issued. IFRS 17 is effective for annual periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2023.

·	 Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of financial statements’ clarify requirements for the presentation of liabilities in the 
statement of financial position as current or non-current. The meaning of settlement of a liability is also clarified. The 
amendments are applicable for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023.

·	 Amendments to IAS 16 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ require an entity to recognise the sales proceeds from selling 
items produced while preparing property, plant and equipment for its intended use and the related costs in profit or 
loss, instead of deducting the amounts received from the cost of the asset. The amendments are applicable for annual 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2022.

·	 Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Business combinations’ update a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations. The amendments are applicable 
for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2022.

·	 Amendments to IAS 37 ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ specify the costs that an entity 
includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making. The amendments are applicable for annual periods 
commencing on or after 1 January 2022.

·	 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 amend:

- IFRS 1 to simplify the application of IFRS 1 by a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter after its parent in 
relation to the measurement of cumulative translation differences;

- IFRS 9 to clarify the fees an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial 
liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability;

- IFRS 16 illustrative example 13 to remove the illustration of payments from the lessor relating to leasehold 
improvements.

- IAS 41 to remove the requirement to exclude cash flows from taxation when measuring fair value, thereby 
aligning the fair value measurement requirements in IAS 41 with those in other accounting standards.

The amendments are applicable for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2022.

·	 Amendments to IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated financial statements’ and IAS 28 ‘Investments in associates’ clarify the 
accounting treatment for sales or contribution of assets between an investor and its associates or joint ventures. 
Where the non-monetary assets constitute a business, the investor will recognise the full gain or loss on the sale or 
contribution of assets. Otherwise, the gain or loss is recognised by the investor only to the extent of the other investor’s 
interests in the associate or joint venture.

·	 Amendments to IAS 8 ‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’ introduce the definition of 
accounting estimates. The amendments also help entities distinguish changes in accounting estimates from changes 
in accounting policies. The amendments are applicable for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED IFRS (Continued)

2.3 New and amended IFRS which are in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

·	 Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of financial statements’ require an entity to disclose its material accounting policy 
information rather than its significant accounting policies.  Consequently, the IFRS Practice Statement 2 has also 
been amended to illustrate how an entity can judge whether accounting policy information is material to its financial 
statements. The amendments are applicable for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023.

·	 Amendments to IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’ narrows the scope of the recognition exemption so that it no longer applies 
to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. The 
amendments are applicable for annual periods commencing on or after 1 January 2023.

The Management believes the adoption of the above amendments is not likely to have any material impact on the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of items in the financial statements for future periods.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

In preparing the financial statements, the Management is required to make estimates and assumptions which affect 
reported income and expenses, assets, liabilities and related disclosures. The use of available information and application 
of judgement based on historical experience and other factors are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in 
the future could differ from such estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods effected. In particular, estimates that involve 
uncertainties and judgements which have significant effect on the financial statements are as follows:

·	 Allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) 

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for 
trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics 
and the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on the settlement of trade receivables over a number of years 
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. 

The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting 
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

At every reporting date, the default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. The 
assessment of the correlation between default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs require the use of estimates. 
The Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of 
customer’s actual default rates in the future. 

ECL on bank balances and call deposits is determined using credit rating information supplied by independent rating 
agencies, where available. ECL on bank balances and other receivables is provided if the amount is deemed material.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

·	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment is based on Management’s assessment of various factors 
such as operating cycles, maintenance programs and normal wear and tear using its best estimates.

·	 Provision for slow and non-moving inventories

Provision for slow and non-moving inventories is based on Management’s estimates of the realisable value of the 
inventories based on the Company’s provisioning policy and historical experiences considering the usage of the 
inventories.

·	 Incremental borrowing rate 

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay 
to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to 
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company ‘would have to 
pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect 
the terms and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest 
rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates.

·	 Estimation of lease term and right of use asset

The Management determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an 
option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Management applies judgement in 
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease by 
considering all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination. 

Further, estimates that involve uncertainties and judgements which have significant effect on the financial statements 
includes the determination of the appropriate rate to discount the lease liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16 and 
assessment of whether a right-of-use asset is impaired in accordance with IAS 36.

·	 Impairment of non-financial assets 

At the end of the reporting period, the Management has assessed if there is any indicators of impairment of non-
financial assets (property, plant and equipment, intangible asset and right of use assets), especially considering the 
effects of business disruptions due to COVID 19 pandemic. Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or 
cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. The computation of value in use and fair value less costs to sell require the use of estimates.

The Management has concluded based on assessment of available evidence, that impairment has not arisen in the 
carrying values of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right of use assets at the end of the reporting 
period. 

·	 Estimating variable consideration for volume rebates

The Company’s expected volume rebates are analysed on a per customer basis for contracts that are subject to a 
single volume threshold. Determining whether a customer will be likely to be entitled to a rebate will depend on the 
customer’s historical rebate entitlement and accumulated purchases to date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The following accounting policies have been consistently applied in dealing with items considered material to the 
Company’s financial statements:

a) Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

b) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Following initial recognition at cost, expenditure 
incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment which increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the item of property, plant and equipment is capitalised. All other expenditures are recognised 
in the statement of income as an expense as incurred.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefit is 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset is 
included in the statement of income in the year the item is derecognised.

Capital work in progress is not depreciated. Otherwise, Depreciation is charged on property, plant and equipment 
so as to write off their cost less their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight line 
method. The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Years
Buildings 5 – 40
Plant and equipment 3 – 30
Motor vehicles 5 – 15

c) Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprises the cost of the ERP system and other computer software. Computer software costs that 
have probable economic benefit exceeding more than one year are recognised as an intangible asset. Intangible 
assets are amortised using the straight line method over their estimated useful life of 5 years and any impairment 
losses are recognised in profit or loss for the period.

d) Inventories

Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs to sell.

The cost of petroleum products and raw materials is determined on a first in first out basis and includes expenditure 
incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Provision is made 
where necessary for slow and non-moving inventories.

e) Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods transferred and services rendered in the ordinary 
course of business and represent the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only 
the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). They are generally due for settlement 
within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

e) Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain 
significant financing component, when they are recognised at fair value. The Company holds the trade receivable 
with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost.

f) Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods and services are transferred to the 
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods and services.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, 
generally on their delivery. The normal credit term is 30 days upon delivery.

Variable consideration

The Company considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance obligations 
to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated (e.g., fixed and progressive rebates). In determining 
the transaction price for the sale of goods, the Management considers the effects of variable consideration and 
consideration payable to the customer (if any).

If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Management estimates the amount of consideration 
to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. The variable consideration is 
estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in 
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable 
consideration is subsequently resolved. Some contracts for the sale of petroleum products provide customers with 
volume rebates which give rise to variable consideration.

Volume rebates

The Company provides volume or progressive rebates to certain customers once the quantity of products purchased 
during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against amounts payable by the 
customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the expected future rebates, the Company applies the most likely 
amount method for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the expected value method for contracts with more 
than one volume threshold.

The Company then applies the requirements on constraining estimates of variable consideration and recognises 
a refund liability for the expected future rebates. The Company reviews its estimate of expected returns at each 
reporting date and updates the amounts of the asset and liability accordingly.

g) Financial assets 

Recognition and initial measurement 

The Company’s financial assets comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. These financial 
assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

g) Financial assets (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that 
are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred 
to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to 
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash 
flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Financial assets at amortised cost:

The Company measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:
- The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows; and 
- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Interest income from financial assets, if any, is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. 
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of income.

h) Impairment 

Financial assets

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is 
impaired. The Company measures the impairment using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for different categories 
of financial assets.

Trade receivables 

The Company recognises allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) applying a simplified approach for trade 
receivables, at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on 
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the trade receivables and the 
economic environment.

Other financial assets

For other financial assets, which are subject to impairment, the ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures 
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit 
losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). 

For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a 
lifetime ECL is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing 
of the default. For bank balances, term deposits and other receivables, the ECL adjustments are made only if they 
are material.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h) Impairment (Continued)

Write off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. 

The Company individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether 
there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Company expects no significant recovery from the amount written 
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with 
the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due. 

Non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Management assesses if there is any indication of impairment of non-financial 
assets. If an indication exists, the Management estimates the recoverable amount of the asset or cash generating unit 
(CGU) and recognises an impairment loss in the statement of income. 

The recoverable amount is assessed as higher of asset’s or CGU’s value in use (VIU) and fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing the VIU, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects market assessments of the time value of money and other asset specific risks. The Management also 
assesses if there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior years no longer exists or has reduced. 
The resultant impairment loss reversals are recognised immediately in the statement of income.

i) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, call deposits and bank 
balances, with an original maturity of three months or less, net of short term bank borrowings, if any.

j) Employees’ end of service benefits

Payment is made to the Oman Government’s Social Security Scheme as per Royal Decree number 72/91 (as 
amended) for Omani employees. 

Provision is made for amounts payable under the Sultanate of Oman’s Labour Law as per Royal Decree number 
35/2003 (as amended) applicable to non-Omani employees’ accumulated periods of service at the end of the 
reporting period.

k) Employees retention scheme

A retention scheme is defined as a financial incentive offered to existing staff, either individually or collectively to 
remain in continued employment generally, or in a particular business or role, over a given period. The form of 
payment is generally in the form of a one-off cash payment made at the end of a specified period. This is recognised 
as an employee expense in profit or loss over the period specified. In case, the relevant employee leaves the 
Company before three years, the corresponding expense is reversed through profit or loss.

l) Trade and other payables

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in future for goods or services received, whether billed by the 
supplier or not.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

m) Taxation

Taxation is provided for in accordance with the Sultanate of Oman’s fiscal regulations. 

Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences at the reporting date. It is 
calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when it is anticipated the liabilities will be settled, 
and it is based on the rates (and laws) that have been enacted at the end of the reporting period. A deferred tax 
asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 
asset can be utilised.

n) Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

o) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods to a customer for which the Company has received consideration 
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Company 
transfers goods to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due 
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Company performs under the contract. 

p) Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Company has a legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability.

q) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Rials Omani and recorded at rates of exchange 
ruling at the date of the transaction. Liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Rials Omani at 
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are 
recognised in the statement of income.

r) Dividend

The Board of Directors recommends to the Shareholders the dividend to be paid out of profits. The Directors take 
into account appropriate parameters including the requirements of the Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate 
of Oman, and other relevant directives issued by CMA while recommending the dividend. Dividend distribution to 
the Shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements only in the period in which the 
dividends are approved by the Shareholders.

s) Leases

Lessee

The Company leases its filling stations, depots, office and bulk storage facilities under various leasing arrangements. 
Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Company allocates the consideration in the 
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices unless it has elected not to 
separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

s) Leases

A lease is recognised as a right of use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset 
is available for use by the Company. Lease liabilities include (wherever applicable) the net present value of the 
following lease payments:

·	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
·	 variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date
·	 amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees
·	 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise the option, and
·	 penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the 
liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate is used. 

Lease payments are allocated between the principal and interest cost. The interest cost is charged to the statement of 
income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. 

Right of use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
·	 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;
·	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
·	 any initial direct costs, and
·	 restoration costs, if applicable. 

Right of use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right of use asset is depreciated 
over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an 
expense in the statement of income.

Lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the Company is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The 
respective leased assets are included in the statement of financial position based on their nature.

t) Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Company’s 
other components. The results of the operating segments are reviewed by the Board of Directors to make decisions 
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information 
is available. 
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

u) Directors’ remuneration

The Company follows the Commercial Companies Law of the Sultanate of Oman, and other latest relevant directives 
issued by CMA, in regard to determination of the amount to be paid as Directors’ remuneration. Directors’ 
remuneration and meeting attendance fees are charged to the statement of income in the year to which they relate.

v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.

w) Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Company intends to either 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

a) The movements of property, plant and equipment during the years 2021 and 2020.

Year 2021 Buildings
Plant and 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles

Capital 
work in 

progress Total
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Cost 
At 31 December 2020 25,303 82,928 313 6,898 115,442
Additions during the year -- -- -- 6,734 6,734
Transfers during the year  1,956  401 --  (2,357) -- 
Disposals during the year -- -- (38) -- (38)
At 31 December 2021 27,259 83,329 275 11,275 122,138 

Depreciation
At 31 December 2020 5,671 54,576 313 -- 60,560
Charge for the year 1,258 3,515 -- -- 4,773 
Disposals during the year -- -- (38) -- (38)
At 31 December 2021  6,929  58,091  275 --    65,295 

Net book value
At 31 December 2021  20,330 25,238 -- 11,275  56,843 

At 31 December 2020 19,632 28,352 -- 6,898 54,882
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5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Year 2020 Buildings
Plant and 

equipment Motor vehicles
Capital work 

in progress Total
RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

Cost 
At 31 December 2019 21,697 77,530 313 13,351 112,891
Additions during the year -- -- -- 2,628 2,628
Transfers during the year 3,606 5,475 -- (9,081) --
Disposals during the year -- (77) -- -- (77)
At 31 December 2020 25,303 82,928 313 6,898 115,442

Depreciation
At 31 December 2019 4,557 50,924 313 -- 55,794
Charge for the year 1,114 3,670 -- -- 4,784
Disposals during the year -- (18) -- -- (18)
At 31 December 2020 5,671 54,576 313 -- 60,560

Net book value
At 31 December 2020 19,632 28,352 -- 6,898 54,882

At 31 December 2019 17,140 26,606 -- 13,351 57,097

b) The Company’s depots, buildings and lubricant blending plant are constructed on land leased from the Ministry of 
Energy and Minerals based on a lease agreement renewed on 1 November 2019 expiring in 25 years [note 7 a)]

c) Capital work in progress at the end of the reporting period mainly pertains to amounts incurred towards construction 
of the new office building and filling stations.

6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Cost
At the beginning and the end of the year 5,511 5,511

Amortisation 
At the beginning of the year 5,442 5,334
Charge for the year 20 108
At the end of the year 5,462 5,442

Net book value
At the end of the year 49 69

7 LEASES

a) The Company enters into leasing arrangements for filling stations, depots, office and bulk storage facilities at various 
locations across the Sultanate of Oman [note 5 b)]. The lease terms are typically between 3 to 25 years (2020 – 3 to 
25 years). A plot of land leased from Ministry of Energy and Minerals is valid for the duration of the Company. The 
Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased assets.
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7 LEASES (Continued)

b) The Company also enters into short term leasing arrangements and has opted to recognise the related lease expenses 
on a straight-line basis as permitted by IFRS 16.

c) The movement in the right-of-use assets during the year is as follows:

31 December 2021 Land Ship Total
RO RO RO 

At the beginning of the year 27,154 2,601 29,755
Additions during the year  456 -- 456 
Remeasurement during the year  1,547 -- 1,547 
Depreciation for the year (3,066) (706) (3,772)
At the end of the year 26,091 1,895 27,986

31 December 2020 Land Ship Total
RO RO RO 

At the beginning of the year 25,249 -- 25,249
Additions during the year 4,264 3,196 7,460
Remeasurement during the year 687 -- 687
Depreciation for the year (3,046) (595) (3,641)
At the end of the year 27,154 2,601 29,755

d) At the end of the reporting period, lease liabilities are analysed as follows:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Non-current portion 24,216 25,770
Current portion 3,063 3,375

27,279 29,145

e) The movement in lease liabilities during the year is as follows:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

At the beginning of the year 29,145 24,386
Additions during the year  456 7,460
Other movements/ remeasurements during the year 1,466 120
Interest on lease liabilities  1,302 1,309
Paid during the year (5,090) (4,130)
At the end of the year 27,279 29,145

f) The contractual maturity analysis of the undiscounted cash flows of the lease liabilities is as follows: 

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Upto 1 year 4,508 4,643
Between 1 year to 5 years 12,435 9,385
Above 5 years 25,969 28,090

42,912 42,118
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7 LEASES (Continued)

g) The amounts included in the statement of income relating to leases comprise:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Depreciation 3,772 3,641

Interest on lease liabilities (note 21) 1,302 1,309

Expense related to short term lease 98 23

Variable lease payments not included in the lease liabilities 23 12

h) The total cash outflow for leases amounted to RO 5.09 million (2020 – RO 4.13 million). 

8 INVENTORIES

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Petroleum products 3,399 3,354
Raw materials 3,382 2,306
Other inventories [note b) below] 1,867  1,098 

8,648 6,758
Less: provision for slow and non-moving inventories
[note a) below] (97) (112)

8,551 6,646

The following further note applies:

a) The movement in provision for slow and non-moving inventories is as follows:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

At the beginning of the year 112 135
Written back during the year (15) (23)
At the end of the year 97 112

Provision for slow moving inventories have reversed during the year due to inventories being sold during the year.

b) Other inventories pertains to electronic vouchers of local telecommunication operators. 
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9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Trade receivables 34,641 31,236
Less: allowance for expected credit losses [note b) below] (1,698) (1,512)

32,943 29,724
Prepayments 1,243 1,470
Amounts due from related parties [note 18 d)] 3,923 1,792
Other Receivables 1,113 915

39,222 33,901

The following further notes apply:

a) Trade receivables are generally non-interest bearing and are on terms of 30 days credit.

b) The movement in allowance for expected credit losses against trade receivables is as follows:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

At the beginning of the year 1,512 1,472
Provided during the year 186 40
At the end of the year 1,698 1,512

c) The increase in allowance for expected losses is mainly due to changes in the macroeconomic environment and the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

d) The estimation for allowance for expected credit losses has been detailed under note 28 b).

10 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Call deposit accounts 5,499 3,432
Other bank balances 3,297 1,175

8,796 4,607

Note:

Call deposits are placed with local commercial banks in the Sultanate of Oman and earn interest at commercial rates. At 
the reporting period, call deposits amounting to RO 1.6 million (2020 – RO 1.2 million) denominated in Rial Omani and 
RO 3.9 million (2020 – RO 2.2. million) are denominated in US Dollars.
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11 SHARE CAPITAL

a) The Company’s authorised, issued and paid-up share capital consists of 100,000,000 shares (2020 – 100,000,000 
shares) of RO 0.100 each (2020 – RO 0.100 each). The composition of the shares are as follows:

2021 2020

RO’000 RO’000

5,000,000 multi-vote shares of RO 0.100 each 500 500

95,000,000 ordinary shares of RO 0.100 each 9,500 9,500

10,000 10,000

In accordance with Article 6 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the holder of each multi-vote share is entitled 
to two votes at the annual general meetings of the Company.

b) The details of shareholders who own 5% or more of the Company’s share capital are as follows:

2021 2020

Number of 
shares %

Number of 
shares %

Multi-vote shares:

Shell Overseas Investments BV 5,000,000 5.0% 5,000,000 5.0%

Ordinary shares:

BV Dordtsche Petroleum Maatschappij 18,700,000 18.7% 18,700,000 18.7%

Shell Overseas Investments BV 15,000,000 15.0% 15,000,000 15.0%

Shell Petroleum NV 10,100,000 10.1% 10,100,000 10.1%

Civil Service Employees Pension Fund 9,904,952 9.9% 9,929,892 9.9%

Public Authority for Social Insurance 9,050,662 9.1% 8,050,662 8.0%

MOD Pension Fund 7,171,278 7.1% 7,343,306 7.3%

Oman Investment Authority 5,791,570 5.8% 5,336,207 5.3%

55



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12 LEGAL RESERVE

In accordance with Article 132 of the Commercial Companies Law of Oman, an annual appropriation of 10% of the net 
profit for the year is to be made to the legal reserve until the reserve equals one third of the Company’s share capital. 
The reserve is not available for distribution but can be utilised to set off against any accumulated losses or to increase the 
Company’s share capital by issuing shares.

No transfer has been made in the current year as the Company has already achieved the minimum amount required in 
the legal reserve in an earlier period. 

13 PROPOSED DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND PER SHARE

The Board of Directors has proposed a cash dividend of 36 baisa per share amounting to RO 3,610,760 (2020 – nil) 
which is subject to Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Dividend per share is determined by dividing the proposed dividend for the year by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding of 100,000,000. 

14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

RO’000 RO’000

Trade payables 39,429  32,063 

Accrued expenses 7,897 5,385

Advance received from customer (contract liabilities) 819  599 

Other payables 3,113 483

Amounts due to related parties [note 18 d)] 1,632 1,473

52,890 40,003

15 PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEE RETENTION SCHEME

2021 2020

RO’000 RO’000

At the beginning of the year 189 255

Expense for the year  42 61

Settled during the year  (105) (127)

At the end of the year 126 189
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16 BANK BORROWINGS

The Company has approved credit facilities arranged from local commercial banks in the Sultanate of Oman which carries 
interest at commercial rates when availed. The interest rate on bank borrowings is subject to re-negotiation with the banks 
upon renewal of facilities, which generally takes place on an annual basis.

17 TERM LOAN

2021 2020

RO’000 RO’000

Term loan 6,667 10,000

Less: current portion of term loan (3,333) (3,333)

Non-current portion of term loan 3,334 6,667

The following further notes apply:

a) The term loan was obtained from a local commercial bank, carries interest at 1.5% plus Central Bank of Oman’s 1 
month T bill rate and is unsecured. The term loan is repayable in equal annual installments of RO 3.333 million each 
which commenced from March 2021. 

b) The facility agreement with the bank contains a restrictive covenant which, if violated, could lead to outstanding 
amounts under the facility becoming immediately repayable [note 28 d)].

c) The maturity profile of the non-current portion of term loan is as follows:

2021 2020

RO’000 RO’000

Due between 1 to 2 years 3,334 3,333 

Due between 2 to 5 years -- 3,334 

3,334 6,667
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18 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a) The Company enters into transactions in the ordinary course of business with the ultimate Parent Company, subsidiaries 
of the ultimate Parent Company, key management personnel (including members of the Board of Directors) and 
entities in which the key management personnel / significant Shareholders of the Company have significant influence 
or control. Prices and terms of payments for these transactions are approved by the Management and the Board of 
Directors. These transactions are entered into on terms and conditions approved by the management and Board of 
Directors, and are subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting. 

The nature and volume of significant related party transactions and the amounts involved during the year were as 
follows:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Group Companies:
Revenue from contracts with customers  23,743 16,123
Purchase of goods and services  12,430 10,959
Service and trademark license fees  1,772 1,912

Other Related Parties:
Revenue from contracts with customers  5,342 5,375
Purchase of goods and services  105 30

Related party sales associated with companies controlled by the ultimate Parent Company (Group Companies) relate 
to sales of lubricants and aviation fuel. Other related party sales relate to sales to entities that are controlled by 
members of the Board of Directors of the Company. Related party purchases were from companies controlled by the 
ultimate Parent Company and were primarily for supply of petroleum products.

b) The key management personnel compensation for the year comprises:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Short term employment benefits 612 577
Share-based compensation 20 20
End of service benefits 23 23

655 620

Directors’ remuneration and meeting attendance fees 82 84
737 704

c) During the year, none (2020 - none) of the Company’s directors were employees of the Company.

d) The amounts due from and due to related parties are generally interest free and based on normal credit terms (2020 
– same terms). 

e) Certain senior management are also eligible to receive variable numbers of the Company shares based on annual 
performance. During the year, the number of shares granted and vested under the share based compensation scheme 
were 23,000 (2020 -16,510). 
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19 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Mobility  361,131 328,494
Aviation  10,345 18,183
Others  26,953 20,413

398,429 367,090

20 OTHER INCOME

Other income consists of Shell fuel cards income, aviation commission, rental income from filling station dealers, 
convenience stores franchisee fees, and throughput and product handling fees for use of the Company’s assets.

21 FINANCE COST

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Interest on lease liabilities [note 7 g)]  1,302 1,309
Interest on term loan and other bank borrowings  495 692

1,797 2,001

22 SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE RELATED COSTS

a) Salaries and employee related included under selling and distribution and general and administration comprise the 
following:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Salaries and employee related costs 8,088 7,493 
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plan for Omani employees 591  534 
Cost of end of service benefits for expatriate employees  40  36 

8,719 8,063 

b) Movements in expatriate employees’ end of service benefits liability during the year is as follows:

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

At the beginning of the year 301 271
Expense for the year  40 36
Settled during the year  (61) (6)
At the end of the year 280 301
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23 TAXATION 

2021 2020

RO’000 RO’000

Statement of comprehensive income

Current year [note d) below] 667 561

Prior year 2 --

Deferred tax credit [note e) below] (13) (68)

656 493

Statement of financial position

Non-current liability

Deferred tax 38 51

Current liability

Current year 667 282

The following further notes apply:

a) The Company is subject to tax at 15% (2020 – 15%) on the profit for the year adjusted for tax purposes.

b) During the year, the taxation assessments for the year 2017 and 2018 were finalised by the Tax Authority with no 
additional demand for tax. 

c) The Company’s taxation assessments for the years 2019 to 2020 have not been finalised by the Tax Authority. 
The Management believes that additional tax assessed, if any, in respect of the unassessed tax years would not be 
material to the financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period.

d) The reconciliation of taxation on the accounting profit with the current taxation charge for the year is as follows:

2021 2020

RO’000 RO’000

Tax charge on accounting profit at applicable rates 640 461

Add tax effect of:

Non-deductible expenses 27 100

667 561
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23 TAXATION (Continued)

e) The movement in deferred tax liability in the statement of financial position at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances Provisions Others Total

RO’000 RO’000 RO’000 RO’000

At 31 December 2019 (313) 323 (130) (120)

(Charged) / credited to the statement of income (98) (39) 206 69

At 31 December 2020 (411) 284 76 (51)

At 31 December 2020 (411) 284 76 (51)

Credited to the statement of income (15) 4 24 13

At 31 December 2021  (426)  288 100 (38) 

24 BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year as follows:

2021 2020

Net profit for the year (RO’000) 3,611 2,584

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
during the year (thousands) 100,000 100,000

Basic earnings per share (in Rials Omani) 0.036 0.026

As there are no dilutive potential shares, the diluted earnings per share are identical to the basic earnings per share.

25 NET ASSETS PER SHARE

Net assets per share is calculated by dividing the net assets at the end of the reporting period by the number of shares 
outstanding as follows:

2021 2020

Net assets (RO’000) 53,500 49,889

Number of shares outstanding at 31 December (thousands) 100,000 100,000

Net assets per share (in Rials Omani) 0.535 0.499
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26 OPERATING SEGMENTS

Management has determined the Company’s operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive 
Officer that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Chief Executive Officer identifies operating segments based on a business perspective. Performance is measured 
based on revenue earned, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Board of Directors. 
Segment revenue is used to measure performance as Management believes that such information is the most relevant in 
evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries

The reportable operating segments derive their revenue primarily from the sale of refined petroleum products in the 
Sultanate of Oman. Mobility sales amounting to RO 361,131 thousand (2020: RO 328,494 thousand) represent the most 
significant component of revenue for the Company and no other segments are significant.

27 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

a) Contingent liabilities

i) At the end of the reporting period, the Company had outstanding bank guarantees, letter of credit and performance 
bonds amounting to RO 5.468 million (2020 – RO 5.212 million)

ii) The Company is subject to litigation in the normal course of business. The Company, based on independent 
legal advice, does not currently believe that the outcome of these court cases will have a material impact on the 
Company’s results or financial position.

b) Commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had capital commitments amounting to RO 5.086 million (2020 – 
RO 8.626 million).

28 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Company’s activities expose it to various financial risks, primarily being, market risk (including currency risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s risk management is carried out internally in accordance 
with the approval of the Board of Directors.

a) Market risk

Currency risk

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily on sale, 
purchases, and bank deposits that are dominated in US Dollar. As the Rial Omani is effectively pegged against the 
US Dollar, the Management does not believe that the Company is exposed to any material currency risk.

Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest bearing liabilities (term loan). The Management manages 
the interest rate risk by constantly monitoring the changes in interest rates. For every 0.5% change in interest rate, 
the net impact on the statement of income will approximate to RO 33,335 (2020 – RO 50,000) based on the level 
of interest bearing liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

b) Credit risk

Credit risk primarily arises from credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables, amounts due from 
related parties and bank balances and deposits held with commercial banks.

The carrying value of trade and other receivables and amounts due from related parties approximate their fair values 
due to the short-term nature of those receivables. 

Trade receivables 

The Company has a credit policy in place for trade receivables and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an 
ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit. In response to the COVID -19 
pandemic, the Management has also evaluated credit to customers in sectors and regions impacted significantly by 
the pandemic and re-assessed the credit limits accordingly.

The credit exposure of trade receivables is further analysed as follows:

·	 At the end of the reporting, trade receivables amounting to RO 21.76 million are past due but not impaired 
(2020 – RO 20.05 million).

·	 At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables amounting to RO 9 million (2020 – RO 8.9 million) are 
secured by bank guarantees.

Concentration of credit risk arises when a number of counter-parties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet 
contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations 
of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular 
industry or geographical location.

The Company has significant concentrations of credit risk with the Government sector. At 31 December 2021, 
Government organisations in Oman accounted for 31% (2020 - 34%) of the outstanding trade accounts receivables. 
At 31 December 2020, there were no other significant concentrations of credit risk.

Expected credit losses (ECL)

The Company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance 
for all trade receivables. The Company derives its expected credit loss based on Shell’s historical observed default 
rates. 

The historical rates are then adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

Expected credit losses (ECL) (Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance was determined as follows for trade receivables:

Year 2021

Non - Government Trade receivables Expected loss rate Loss allowance
RO % RO

Current  18,703 0.09%  17 
Past due by:
0 - 30 days  1,264 0.08%  1 
31 – 180 days  1,737 1.21%  21 
Above 180 days  2,135 75.74%  1,617 

 23,839  1,656 

Government Trade receivables Expected loss rate Loss allowance
RO % RO

Current 3,057 0.20%  6 
Past due by:
0 - 30 days  210 0.48%  1 
31 – 180 days  4,963 0.10%  5 
Above 180 days  2,572 1.17%  30 

 10,802  42 

Year 2020

Non - Government Trade receivables Expected loss rate Loss allowance
RO % RO

Current 16,826 0.06% 10
Past due by:
0 - 30 days 933 0.93% 9
31 – 180 days 806 9.01% 72
Above 180 days 2,040 66.9% 1,366

20,605 1,457

Government Trade receivables Expected loss rate Loss allowance
RO % RO

Current 3,232 0.09% 3

Past due by:

0 - 30 days 107 1.39% 2

31 – 180 days 3,146 0.15% 5

Above 180 days 4,146 1.10% 45

10,631 55
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28 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

b) Credit risk (Continued)

Unimpaired receivables are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable. ECL on other receivables 
has not been provided as the amounts involved are not considered to be material to the financial statements. 

Amounts due from related parties

Amounts due from related parties are expected to have low credit risk. Accordingly, no expected credit losses on 
such dues have been provided.

Bank balances

Credit risk from bank balances maintained in call and current accounts with local commercial banks is managed 
by ensuring balances are maintained with reputed banks only. The ECL on these balances are not expected to be 
material to the Company’s financial position at the end of the reporting period and have accordingly not been 
provided.

c) Liquidity risk

The Management monitors liquidity requirements on a regular basis and ensures that sufficient funds are available 
including unutilised credit facilities to meet all liabilities as they fall due. The Company manages liquidity risk of 
maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows.

The maturity analysis in respect of the lease liabilities and term loan has been provided in notes 7 f) and 17 c) 
respectively. All current financial liabilities are expected to be repaid within six to twelve months from the end of the 
reporting period.

d) Capital management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:

·	 to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders, and

·	 to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing services and goods commensurate with the level of risk.

The Company sets capital in proportion to risk and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the shareholders, return capital to shareholders, raise 
additional capital or sell assets to reduce debts. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for 
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Company monitors capital using a range of financial ratios including a regular assessment of the Company’s 
debt to equity position. The Company includes within net debt, term loans and borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and 
other payables, less cash and call account deposits.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

d) Capital management (Continued)

2021 2020
RO’000 RO’000

Term loan (note 17) 6,667 10,000
Lease liabilities [note 7 d)] 27,279 29,145
Trade and other payables (note 14) 52,890 40,003
Less: cash and call deposit accounts (note 10) (8,796) (4,607)
Net debt 78,040 74,541

Equity 53,500 49,889
Capital and net debt 131,540 124,430

Gearing ratio 1.46 1.49

In the context of managing capital, the Company has covenanted, with banks providing external debt to maintain 
average utilisation of the committed facility and restriction on dilution of share capital held by the ultimate Parent 
Company. At the end of the reporting period, the Company is in compliance with the covenanted level.

29 COMPARATIVES

Comparatives have been regrouped or reclassified wherever necessary in order to conform to the presentation adopted 
in these financial statements. Such reclassification did not result in changes to the previously reported total comprehensive 
income or equity.

30 IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The outbreak of coronavirus (COVID-19) continues to progress and evolve, causing disruption to business and economic 
activities across the globe, including the Sultanate of Oman. While the Government of Sultanate of Oman has eased 
lockdowns along with announcement and implementation of measures to provide assistance to the affected entities, the 
macro-economic uncertainty continues especially with the spread of OMICRON variant of COVID-19. 

The key impact of COVID-19 on the Company is the reduction in sales demand as compared to pre covid situation. The 
Management is regularly monitoring the evolution of the COVID 19 pandemic and will continue to assess the impact going 
forward too.
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